THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity **OCT 12 2018**

Case No. 2015-CP-10-3389
Appellate Case No. 2018-000084

SC Court of Appeals

Peter Miller, Mary Alice Miller, Mary Alice Miller, as Trustee of Mary Alice Miller Living Trust, Miller Group Properties, LLC, and C-Miller Properties, LLC, Plaintiffs,

Of whom C-Miller Properties, LLC is the Appellant,

v.

Marilyn L. Dillon and JLJ, LLC, Respondents,

and

Marilyn L. Dillon, Third-Party Plaintiff, Respondent,

v.

PMC, LLC, Third-Party Defendant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Beth Burke Richardson, S.C. Bar No. 69552

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Master-in-Equity err in finding Appellant could not compel enforcement of the Settlement Order where Appellant satisfied the elements of specific performance but the Master relied on nonmaterial considerations to support a decision to the contrary, and to the extent those considerations were proper at all, failed to consider all the facts and circumstances related thereto, particularly mitigating evidence presented by Appellant in her Affidavit and evidence of bad faith on the part of Respondent?
2. Did the Master-in-Equity err in finding the Purchase Agreement was not a ratified contract and therefore did not comply with the terms of the Settlement Order when the missing signature for ratification was the signature of Respondent, who, in an act of self-dealing, chose not to ratify the agreement and instead award herself a significant economic windfall?
3. Did the Master-in-Equity err in finding the Purchase Agreement failed for lack of consideration because no earnest money was put down upon execution when the record shows that the parties to the Purchase Agreement exchanged mutual promises as consideration therefor and, even if the Purchase Agreement lacked adequate consideration, such inadequacy is not grounds for refusing the remedy of specific performance as a matter of law?
4. Did the Master-in-Equity err in finding the Purchase Agreement violated the Settlement Order that any sale of the Property close by a date certain when the Purchase Agreement in fact provided for a timely closing date but also included a provision which would allow—but *did not require*—the parties to close a mere one month later?
5. Did the Master-in-Equity err in balancing the equities in favor of Respondent, when the considerations made by the Master in Respondent's favor were in error, and the Master failed to take into consideration other significant facts tipping the balance of equities in favor of Appellant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mary Miller (“Mother”) and Peter Miller (collectively, “the Parents”) are the parents of Cynthia Miller, who is the single member owner of Appellant C-Miller Properties, LLC,¹ Respondent Marilyn Dillion,² and Petrease Clarkson³ (hereinafter collectively referred to as “the Sisters”). On June 15, 2015, in order to resolve a dispute regarding a large generational, family-owned commercial property, the Parents and Cynthia filed a Lis Pendens, Summons, and Complaint, seeking a declaratory judgment action against Marilyn. Marilyn filed an Answer, generally denying the allegations in the Complaint and seeking foreclosure of the mortgage in dispute and adding Petrease as a third-party defendant in the action. Thereafter, the parties proceeded to mediation pursuant to the Scheduling Order issued by the Master-in-Equity. Following mediation, the parties entered into a Consent Settlement Order (“the Settlement Order”) filed on September 12, 2016. On April 28, 2017, after a dispute arose as to whether Marilyn adhered to the Settlement Order, the Parents and Cynthia filed a Motion to Enforce Settlement Order. The Master-in-Equity denied the Motion, filing an Order Denying Plaintiffs’ Motion to Enforce the Settlement Order on September 17, 2017 (“Order”). The Parents and Cynthia filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which the Master denied in a Form 4 Order filed on December 20, 2017. This appeal followed.

¹ This brief refers to Appellant C-Miller Properties, LLC as “Cynthia” for ease of reference in identifying the parties.

² Respondent Marilyn Dillion, and her husband, Joe Dillion, are the members of Respondent JLJ, LLC. The Master-in-Equity treated Respondents’ interests as fully aligned, and Respondents arguments before the Master made no distinction between the two parties’ positions. Therefore, for ease of reference, this brief refers to Respondents as “Marilyn” in the appeal before this Court.

³ Petrease Clarkson is the single member owner of PMC, LLC, the Third-Party Defendant in the underlying action. This brief refers to Petrease by first name for ease of reference.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Parents owned a large piece of commercial property located at 4213 Savannah Highway, Charleston County, South Carolina (“the Property”). Due to financial difficulties related to the Property in June 2006, the Parents borrowed money from their daughter, Marilyn. The Parents executed a promissory note (“the Note”) promising to pay Marilyn \$360,000.00 by May 31, 2009. (R. 32-35). In December 2006, the Parents deeded a 50% ownership interest in the Property to their other daughter, Cynthia,⁴ as compensation for her contribution to the Property as property manager because Cynthia was not paid a salary during the time she worked as manager. (R. 185-89). In 2008, the Parents and Cynthia executed a mortgage securing the \$360,000.00 Note from Marilyn. (R. 35-42). Thereafter, in May 2011, the Parents deeded certain residential lots not the subject of this appeal to Marilyn to satisfy the accrued interest on the Note. (R. 43-48).

On March 23, 2012, Mother executed a modified promissory note and modified mortgage, promising to pay Marilyn \$434,059.00, with a balloon payment due on May 1, 2013. Cynthia did not execute the modified note and mortgage. (R. 50-54). On the same day—March 23, 2012—Mother executed a warranty deed transferring a 40% interest in the Property to Respondent JLJ, LLC⁵ and a 10% interest in the Property to PMC, LLC, a single member limited liability company owned by their third daughter, Petrease. (R. 55-61). The warranty deed was not provided to Cynthia for execution until May 14, 2012. (R. 55-61).

⁴ As noted in footnote 1, *supra*, Cynthia is the sole owner and member of Appellant C-Miller Properties, LLC.

⁵ As noted in footnote 2, *supra*, Respondent Marilyn Dillion, and her husband, Joe Dillion, are the members of Respondent JLJ, LLC, and for ease of reference, this brief refers to Respondents as “Marilyn.”

On June 15, 2015, after a dispute arose among the parties as to the amount of remaining debt on the modified note, the Parents and Cynthia filed a Lis Pendens, Summons, and Complaint, seeking a declaratory judgment, arguing the transfer of the above-mentioned residential lots worth \$102,955.67 and subsequent conveyance of 40% interest in the Property or \$436,000.00 to Marilyn constituted partial satisfaction or payment of the Note. Marilyn filed an Answer, Counterclaim, Cross-Claim, and Third-Party Complaint, seeking foreclosure and alleging the defenses of statute of frauds, statute of limitations, and the doctrines of laches, unclean hands, estoppel, and waiver. The Parents and Cynthia filed a Reply.

Following mediation ordered by the Court, the parties entered into the Settlement Order filed on September 12, 2016. (R. 143-147⁶). The Settlement Order provided in pertinent part that within 180 days of the filing of the Order, the Parents and Cynthia would provide either of the following: (1) a ratified contract to sell the Property for \$850,000.00 or more; *or* (2) an unqualified loan commitment letter from a reputable lender for a loan on commercially reasonable terms in an amount sufficient to pay the debt owed to Marilyn. (R. 143-147). Further, the sale or refinance of the Property must be closed within 270 days of the entry of the Settlement Order, and in the event a sale of the Property generated more funds than necessary to repay the debt owed to Marilyn, then Marilyn would also receive 40% of the profits, which reflected her percentage ownership in the Property overall, with Cynthia receiving 50% and Petrease receiving 10% of the profits too. Accordingly, the Settlement Order required a contract to sell or loan commitment by March 11, 2017, and a sale or refinance of the Property to close by June 9, 2017, with any profit in excess of the debt owed to Marilyn being apportioned among the sisters in proportion to their respective ownership interests in the Property.

⁶ The Settlement Order is not paginated.

Additionally, the Settlement Order (1) appointed real estate agent, Reid Davis, as the broker to list the Property for sale; (2) made the Parents and Cynthia responsible for managing the Property and paying taxes, insurance, and maintenance costs; (3) required Petrease to loan \$9,000.00 and Marilyn to loan \$6,000.00 for payment of taxes, insurance, and maintenance fees; (4) provided the parties would execute a deed in lieu of foreclosure which would be held in trust and would not be recorded unless the Parents or Cynthia breached the terms of the Settlement Order; and (5) provided the action would remain pending during compliance with the terms of the Settlement Order. (R. 143-147).

On March 8, 2017, pursuant to the Settlement Order, Cynthia sent Marilyn a Real Estate Purchase Agreement (“the Purchase Agreement”), agreeing to purchase the Property for \$850,000.00, with a closing date of on or before June 9, 2017. (R. 148-55). Cynthia’s company, CRM Agency, LLC, was the purchaser. (R. 148-55). On March 10, 2017, in response to the Purchase Agreement, counsel for Marilyn sent a letter to counsel for Cynthia, “expressly reject[ing]” the purchase offer (“the Rejection Letter”), alleging the Settlement Order required the use of Reid Davis as the broker to list the property and Cynthia purportedly did not provide to Davis information necessary to list the property. (R. 157-59). Additionally, the Rejection Letter alleged that “[e]ven if it does not so expressly state, it was clearly the parties’ intent that [the Property] be listed and sold” to a third-party purchaser. (R. 157-59). Further, the Rejection Letter contended the Purchase Agreement was not commercially reasonable for the following reasons: (1) it did not include a pre-qualification letter; (2) there was no earnest money; (3) “the financing contingency provides for proof of financing to be proven seven (7) days prior to closing which is absolutely unacceptable”; (4) the sellers—which included Cynthia, Marilyn, and Petrease—would

be responsible for some closing costs and Cynthia would receive a commission; and (5) the purchase price was “well beneath” the appraised value. (R. 157-59).

Without any further negotiation, on April 7, 2017, Marilyn executed and recorded a deed in lieu of foreclosure, foreclosing upon the Property. (R. 187, 226, 228-30). On April 26, 2017, Marilyn transferred the property to her company, Miller Bridge Capital, LLC, for \$5.00, by warranty deed, title not examined. (R. 238).

On April 28, 2017, the Parents and Cynthia filed a Motion to Enforce Settlement Order, arguing they complied with the heart of the Settlement Order by providing the Purchase Agreement to Marilyn before the March 11, 2017 deadline, the performance of which would have further complied with the terms of the Settlement Order to close on the sale of the Property within 90 days thereafter or June 9, 2017. They maintained Marilyn wrongfully rejected the agreement without negotiating in good faith.

In her affidavit in support of the Motion, Cynthia confirmed she complied with the terms of the Settlement Order, acting in good faith throughout the process. (R. 186 ¶ 5). She stated she presented the Purchase Agreement on March 8, 2017, and that while Petrease agreed with the Purchase Agreement, Petrease was unable to sign the Purchase Agreement until the following Monday, March 13, 2017. (R. 186 ¶ 7). Cynthia noted too that she revised the agreement to respond to Marilyn’s objections thereto outlined in the Rejection Letter. (R. 186 ¶ 7). She confirmed Marilyn nonetheless rejected any negotiation of the terms of the Purchase Agreement. (R. 186-87 ¶ 8). Cynthia also averred that Reid Davis, the broker appointed to list the Property, only contacted her once and had all the information necessary to list the property for sale. (R. 187-88 ¶ 12). As to the 2016 property taxes, Cynthia stated that the sisters routinely paid the taxes at the end of the year instead of in January. (R. 188 ¶ 13). Cynthia stated she, the Parents, and

Petrese believed the 40% interest the Parents deeded to Marilyn in March 2012 was to satisfy a portion of the debt owed. (R. 188-89 ¶ 14). The parties proceeded to a hearing on June 14, 2017, wherein Cynthia's Affidavit was accepted by the Master to the extent it bore on the Motion to Enforce the Settlement Order. (R. 15-23, 219). During the hearing, counsel for the Parents and Cynthia reiterated their arguments that the heart of the Settlement Order required a contract to purchase the Property for a price of at least \$850,000.00 or more (which would pay off the debt to Marilyn) be ratified by a time certain, and then that the sale on the Property for that minimum price or more close by a date certain. (R. 220-22). Counsel argued that the Purchase Agreement ratified by Cynthia and Petrese provided for these essential and material terms and any alleged breaches by Cynthia were "collateral matters." (*Id.*).

The Master denied the motion by an Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce the Settlement Order ("Order") filed on September 27, 2017. The Order first recounts the facts underlying the dispute leading to the Parents, Cynthia, Marilyn, and Petrese's execution and entry of the Settlement Order. (R. 15-17). The factual section curiously laid out none of the terms of the Settlement Order itself. (*Id.*) The enforcement of the Settlement Order, however, was the issue before the Master. (R. 17) ("Plaintiffs seek to compel the performance of the Settlement Order to require Defendants to execute a Real Estate Purchase Agreement . . .").

The Master concluded the Parents and Cynthia failed to comply with the terms of the Settlement Order because the Purchase Agreement presented by Cynthia (1) was not a ratified contract as Marilyn did not sign it and Petrese did not sign it on time; (2) failed for lack of consideration; and (3) allowed for the parties thereto to close on the Property beyond the time agreed to by the Parents and the Sisters. (R. 17-19). Because Cynthia delivered an allegedly noncompliant Purchase Agreement to Marilyn, moreover, the Master concluded the Parents and

Cynthia were in breach of the Settlement Order and Marilyn was entitled to record the deed in lieu of foreclosure. (R. 19). The Master further concluded the Parents and Cynthia could not compel performance because Marilyn had set forth sufficient evidence to demonstrate she had fulfilled her obligations under the Settlement Order while the Parents and Cynthia had consistently failed to fulfil their obligations. (R. 20). To this end, the Master concluded Cynthia had failed to cooperate with the broker designated as the listing agent in the Settlement Order, failed to pay the 2016 property taxes in April of 2017, and Cynthia delivered the deed in lieu documents after the time the ratified contract was due. (R. 20-21). Finally, the Master concluded that in all, because of the long time in which Marilyn had allegedly waited to have her debt repaid, and because of the difficulties associated with undoing Marilyn's filing of the deed in lieu of foreclosure and subsequent property transfers, Marilyn would be unduly prejudiced in granting the Motion to Enforce the Settlement. (R. 21-23).

Cynthia filed a Rule 59(e), which was denied after a hearing on December 18, 2017, by a Form 4 Order filed December 20, 2017. This appeal timely followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A suit for declaratory judgment may be legal or equitable, and is characterized as such by the nature of the underlying issue outlined in the complaint.” *Lowcountry Open Land Trust v. State*, 347 S.C. 96, 101, 552 S.E.2d 778, 781 (Ct. App. 2001). Appellate courts must look to the action's main purpose as reflected by the nature of the pleadings, evidence, and character of relief sought to determine whether the claim is legal or equitable. *Gordon v. Drews*, 358 S.C. 598, 604, 595 S.E.2d 864, 867 (Ct. App. 2004).

Here, the pleadings and evidence indicate the Parents' and Cynthia's primary purpose in asserting their claim to enforce the Settlement Order was to prohibit Marilyn from foreclosing on

the Property and allow the three sisters to realize their proportional share of ownership in the large, generational family-owned commercial property. Because their primary purpose in asserting the motion to enforce the settlement order was injunctive relief, the action is equitable in nature. See *Cedar Cove Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. DiPietro*, 368 S.C. 254, 258, 628 S.E.2d 284, 286 (Ct. App. 2006) (“The character of an action as legal or equitable depends on the relief sought.”). Moreover, actions for foreclosures are actions in equity. *Wilder Corp v. Wilke*, 324 S.C. 570, 576, 479 S.E.2d 510, 513 (Ct. App. 1996), *aff'd*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998). Actions for specific performance are also actions in equity. *Ingram v. Kasey's Assoc.*, 340 S.C. 98, 105, 531 S.E.2d 387, 290 (2000).

In equity action on appeal from a Master, the court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Felts v. Richland Cnty.*, 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991). “However, this broad scope of review does not require an appellate court to disregard the findings below or ignore the fact that the trial [court] is in the better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses.” *Pinckney v. Warren*, 344 S.C. 382, 387, 544 S.E.2d 620, 623 (2001). “Moreover, the appellant is not relieved of his burden of convincing the appellate court [that] the trial [court] committed error in his findings.” *Id.* at 387-88, 544 S.E.2d at 623.

ARGUMENT

This action involves an equitable dispute between the Parents, Cynthia, and Petrease against Marilyn, the Parents' other daughter and Cynthia and Petrease's sister, over a large, generational family-owned commercial property. The underlying dispute over the amount of the debt owed to Marilyn relating to the Property and the Sisters' proportional ownership of the same was settled by all and memorialized in the Settlement Order. The heart of the Settlement Order validated the three sisters' significant ownership interests in the Property so long as the debt to

Marilyn was paid through the sale of the Property at a minimum price and within a specified timeframe. This appeal focuses on whether it was an abuse of discretion for the Master to circumvent the timeframe agreed to by the parties in the Settlement Order and provide Marilyn a large economic windfall to the significant prejudice of Cynthia and Petrease, when in doing so the Master erred in finding (1) Cynthia could not compel enforcement of the Settlement Order; (2) the Purchase Agreement was not ratified; (3) the Purchase Agreement failed for lack of consideration; (4) the Purchase Agreement violated the Settlement Order's term requiring the sale of the Property to close before a date certain; and (5) the equities favored Marilyn. Because of these errors, this Court should reverse the Master's Order, and remand for the Master to set aside the Marilyn's wrongfully recorded deed in lieu of foreclosure and subsequently tainted conveyance of Property to a limited liability of her own making and enter judgment in favor of the Parents' and Cynthia's Motion to Enforce the Settlement Order. A reversal would allow the Sisters to fulfil the contractual opportunity afforded to them in the Settlement Order to close on the sale of the Property for a minimum price within a specified time, repaying the debt owed to Marilyn and realizing the profits thereon in proportion to their relative ownership interest in the Property gifted to them by the Parents.

I. The Master-in-Equity erred in finding Cynthia could not compel enforcement of the Settlement Order when Cynthia satisfied the elements of a claim for specific performance.

The Master errantly found Cynthia could not compel specific performance of the Settlement Order. The parties had a valid contract to which Cynthia had substantially satisfied the material terms thereunder, and was ready, willing, and able to complete her part. In evaluating the propriety of specific performance in the instant case, the Master, however, erred in considering and weighing so heavily Cynthia's alleged nonmaterial deviations from the Settlement Order.

Even if Cynthia's alleged nonmaterial deviations from the Settlement Order were a proper consideration of and weighed appropriately by the Master, the Master also erroneously and prejudicially failed to consider the entire set of facts relating to those issues, including the mitigating evidence presented by Cynthia in her Affidavit and the unclean hands of Marilyn.

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