THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUL 16 2018

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

Case No. 2015-CP-10-3389
Appellate Case No. 2018-000084

Peter Miller, Mary Alice Miller, Mary Alice Miller, as Trustee
of Mary Alice Miller Living Trust, Miller Group Properties, LLC,
and C-Miller Properties, LLC, Plaintiffs,

Of whom C-Miller Properties, LLC is the Appellant,

v.

Marilyn L. Dillon and JLJ, LLC, Respondents,

and

Marilyn L. Dillon, Third-Party Plaintiff, Respondent,

v.

PMC, LLC, Third-Party Defendant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Carmelo B. Sammataro (SC Bar No. 69746)

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

ARGUMENTS

Appellant's quixotic effort to compel specific performance of the September 12, 2016 Consent Settlement Order notwithstanding its principal's well-documented non-performance with the terms of that Order is misguided. To begin, Appellant relies on arguments and issues that were never raised to and ruled upon by the Master in Equity and are, therefore, not subject to appellate review in this Court. Further, where, as here, substantial record evidence exists to support the Master in Equity's determination that Appellant's principal willfully failed to perform her obligations under the Consent Settlement Order, equity and the law of contracts do not permit the relief Appellant seeks. Thus, and for the reasons explained in greater detail herein, the Orders below should be affirmed in their entirety.

I. APPELLANT HAS WAIVED APPELLATE REVIEW OF CERTAIN ISSUES AND ARGUMENTS WHICH WERE NOT RAISED TO AND RULED UPON BY THE MASTER IN EQUITY IN THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW.

On appeal, Appellant seeks to expand its grounds for relief well beyond those included in the Motion to Enforce Settlement Order and subsequent Motion and Amended Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. These thinly disguised attempts to expand the scope of appellate review are inappropriate and should be rejected out of hand. As the South Carolina Supreme Court has observed, "[i]ssue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues. . . . [Thus, i]t is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal." *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) (quoting *Queen's Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dec. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006)). These stringent preservation requirements serve to "enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." *Id.* (quoting *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724

(2000)). Inasmuch as Appellant failed to make these arguments and obtain a ruling on them from the Master in Equity, they should be deemed waived and not considered on appeal.

Appellant moved to enforce the Consent Settlement Order via motion filed April 28, 2017. (April 28, 2017 Mot. to Enforce Settlement Order) In that motion, Appellant argued she was entitled to enforcement of the Consent Settlement Order *vis a vis* an order compelling Respondents to execute its proposed Real Estate Purchase Agreement. (hereinafter “the Purchase Agreement”) (Ex. C to April 28, 2017 Mot. to Enforce Settlement Order) At oral argument, Appellant’s arguments were simple and straightforward – Appellant had until March 11, 2017, to present a purchase contract; it failed to obtain all the necessary signatures for the Purchase Agreement; Respondents “summarily” rejected the un-ratified Purchase Agreement; and, nevertheless, Appellant should have been given additional time to negotiate the terms of the Purchase Agreement with Respondents³. (June 14, 2017 Hr’g Trans., p. 7, line 6 – p. 10, line 17)

The gravamen of Appellant’s argument in support of enforcing the Consent Settlement Order was simple: Respondents summarily rejected the Purchase Agreement (an offer Miller asserted effectively complied with the terms of the Consent Settlement Order irrespective of her non-performance, her failure to cooperate or to obtain all the required signatures, her failure to obtain a financing commitment letter, and her failure to pay any earnest money as consideration for the purchase agreement). (September 27, 2017 Order Denying Pls.’ Mot. to Enforce Settlement Order, pp. 3-8; June 14, 2017 Hr’g Trans., p. 7, line 20 – p. 10, line 17)

The Master in Equity rejected Appellant’s contentions, concluding instead that the Purchase Agreement did not comply with the express terms of the Consent Settlement Order,

³ Indeed, at oral argument of the Motion to Enforce Settlement Order, Appellant’s counsel referred to the remaining issues she now presses on appeal as “collateral matters”. (June 14, 2017 Hr’g Trans., p. 8, lines 8-9)

that Appellant could not seek specific performance in light of Miller's own non-performance of the obligations imposed upon her by the Consent Settlement Order, and that an order compelling Respondents' compliance with the Consent Settlement Order (and by extension Appellant's dubious Purchase Agreement) would result in prejudice to Respondents. (September 27, 2017 Order Denying Pls.' Mot. to Enforce Settlement Order)

Similarly, in its initial Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment pursuant to SCRCP 52(b) and 59(e) filed October 9, 2017, Appellant asserted the Master In Equity erred in three specific particulars: (1) in finding the Purchase Agreement was invalid because it was not ratified as required by the Consent Settlement Order; (2) in concluding Miller's own non-performance in failing to cooperate with the listing agent and not paying property taxes prevented her from seeking specific performance; and (3) in ruling that enforcement of the Consent Settlement Order would unfairly prejudice Respondents and would further require setting aside the deed in lieu of foreclosure. (October 9, 2017 Mot. to Alter or Amend, pp. 3-4) In its "amended" motion filed the next day, October 10, 2017, Appellant effectively re-stated the grounds for relief asserted in the original motion. (October 10, 2017 Amended Mot. to Alter or Amend, pp. 2-4). It appears that the only reason for the amendment of the motion was to remove the remaining Plaintiffs from the action who, notably, have not joined in this appeal.

In a stark departure from the arguments to the lower court, Appellant's Brief to this Court significantly alters and expands its arguments well beyond those presented to the trial court. For example, Appellant argues for the first time on appeal that the Master in Equity committed

“plain” error by improperly weighing testimonial affidavits⁴ and other evidence of Miller’s non-performance, failing to find Respondents acted in bad faith, and in rejecting Appellant’s arguments with regard to an extended closing date and “undoing” the deed in lieu of foreclosure. These transmutations violate the long-standing rule that appellate courts of this State “do not recognize the plain error rule. The appellants have the responsibility to identify errors on appeal, not the Court. South Carolina cases clearly hold that one cannot present and try a case on one theory and then attack the result below by presenting another theory on appeal.” *Kennedy v. South Carolina Retirement System*, 349 S.C. 531, 533, 564 S.E.2d 322, 323 (2001) (quoting Jean H. Toal, Shahin Vafai & Robert Muckenfuss, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 309 (1999) and citing *Butler v. Town of Edgefield*, 328 S.C. 238, 493 S.E.2d 838 (1997)).

Appellant never made or received a ruling on many of the broadly sweeping arguments regarding the weight to be given affidavits or Respondents’ alleged (but unsubstantiated) acts of bad faith to the Master in Equity. Instead, its arguments were limited to whether it presented a valid Purchase Agreement and whether Miller’s actions barred equitable relief in the form of an order compelling specific performance. As such, any arguments other than or in addition to those raised to and ruled upon by the Master in Equity should be deemed waived and not subject to further appellate review.

⁴ Specifically, at oral argument, Appellant never directly challenged the admissibility or weight of any testimonial affidavits submitted for the court’s consideration at oral argument of the Motion to Enforce Settlement Order or her subsequent Motions to Alter or Amend Judgment. Similarly, neither the motion nor the amended motion makes any reference to improper or erroneous consideration of testimonial affidavits. (*Cf.* Appellant’s Br. at pp. 14-15) In like fashion, there was no evidence or finding below, and Appellant has not argued prior to submission of the brief to this Court, that Respondents acted in bad faith or in any manner inconsistent their rights and obligations pursuant to the Consent Settlement Order beyond moving to enforce their rights upon Appellant’s breach of the terms thereof. (*Cf.* Appellant’s Br. at pp. 16-18)

II. THE MASTER IN EQUITY DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO COMPEL SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE IN LIGHT OF CLEAR AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THAT THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT SUBMITTED BY APPELLANT DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE CONSENT SETTLEMENT ORDER AND THAT ITS OWN PRINCIPAL'S ACTS OF NON-COMPLIANCE BAR EQUITABLE RELIEF.

At its core, Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement Order is one for specific performance. That is, They sought an order from the Master in Equity compelling Respondents to divest their interest in the subject property on less than fair terms. The Master in Equity correctly recognized that the proposed Purchase Agreement failed to meet the requirements of the Consent Settlement Order and that Miller's acts of non-performance served as a further impediment to the grant of equitable relief. Thus, the Master in Equity did not err in denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Enforce Settlement Order and subsequent Motion and Amended Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. For these reasons, explored in greater detail below, the Orders below should be affirmed in their entirety.

Specific performance should be compelled only where no adequate legal remedy is available and specific performance of the contract is equitable to the parties. *Campbell v. Carr*, 361 S.C. 258, 263, 603 S.E.2d 625, 628 (Ct. App. 2004) (quoting *Ingram v. Kasey's Assocs.*, 340 S.C. 98, 105, 531 S.E.2d 287, 291 (2000)). In order to compel specific performance, the court of equity "must find: (1) there is clear evidence of a valid agreement; (2) the agreement had been partly carried into execution on one side with the approbation of the other; and (3) the party who comes to compel performance has performed his or her part, or has been and remains able and willing to perform his or her part of the contract." *Id.* (quoting *Ingram*, 340 S.C. at 106, 531 S.E.2d at 291).

The first element that must be satisfied in Appellant's quest to compel specific performance is clear evidence of a valid agreement. Neither party, however, disagrees that the

September 12, 2016 Consent Settlement Order is valid or enforceable. Indeed, the Consent Settlement Order satisfies both elements necessary to be enforceable – it has been entered into the court’s record and has been acknowledged and placed on the record in open court. *See Motley v. Williams*, 374 S.C. 107, 111, 647 S.E.2d 244, 236 (Ct. App. 2007) (noting requirements of Rule 43(k) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and collecting cases). Obviously, Appellant, as the party seeking to enforce the terms of the Consent Settlement Order, does not challenge its existence or validity.

Going further, neither party materially disputes the key terms of the Consent Settlement Order. That Order requires, in part, the following:

1. Within one hundred and eighty (180) days of the date of the filing of [the] Consent Order. . . Plaintiffs [Appellant] must provide Defendants [Respondents] with one of the following:
 - a. A ratified contract to sell the property identified as TMS # 244-00-00-122 (the Subject Property”) [described, *infra*] for Eight Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100s (\$850,000.00) or higher; or
 - b. An unqualified loan commitment letter from a reputable lender licensed by the state or federal government for a loan on commercially reasonable terms in an amount sufficient to pay the debt owned [sic] Defendants/Third Party Plaintiff as more fully described in the Answer, Counterclaim, Cross-Claim and Third-Party Complaint filed in this matter, with the caveat that the attorneys’ fees due to Defendant/Third-Party Plaintiff Marilyn L. Dillon will be attorney’s fees and costs actually incurred by her related to this matter and not the attorneys’ fees provided for under the Modified Note, Mortgage and other related loan documents.
2. If Plaintiffs obtain a ratified contract or loan commitment as described in paragraph 1 hereof, any such sale or refinance must be closed within Two Hundred Seventy (270) days of the date of the entry of this consent order.

(September 12, 2016 Consent Settlement Order, p. 2)

In addition to the terms outlined in the preceding paragraph, failure to obtain a ratified purchase contract or loan commitment, as well as to close or re-finance within 270 days from the

date of entry of the Consent Settlement Order, constituted default. (*Id.*, p. 3, ¶¶ 3-4) The Consent Settlement Order also contained provisions governing appointment of a real estate broker to handle the listing, as well as for the payment of regular expenses, including upkeep and maintenance, taxes, and insurance. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 5-6) Furthermore, the Consent Settlement Order required the parties to execute and deliver to counsel for Respondents a deed in lieu of foreclosure to be held in trust pending Miller’s compliance with her obligations thereunder. (*Id.*, ¶¶ 13-14)

These provisions are not complicated or difficult to understand. Indeed, Appellant’s counsel succinctly characterized the Consent Settlement Order as follows:

Per that settlement agreement, the Plaintiffs, Ms. Miller -- the Millers -- were given a period of time to either produce a contract to purchase the property that the Dillons had the mortgage on, or to produce a commitment letter from a lender that would allow the property to be refinanced and pay the Dillons their mortgage and everybody would go on about their business. . . . I think it’s really a simple matter.

(June 14, 2017 Hr’g Trans., p. 7, 25 – p. 8, line 13) At no point, however, did Appellant seek to contradict, alter, or expand the rights and obligations set forth in the Consent Settlement Order until faced with the consequences of failing to comply with them. *See* Section II.C., addressing Miller’s non-performance, *infra*. Rather, the real dispute between the parties is simple and hinges on whether Appellant’s proffered Purchase Agreement was unratified and untimely and whether Miller failed to perform her obligations pursuant to the Consent Settlement Order.

A. The Purchase Agreement Does Not Comply With the Consent Settlement Order or South Carolina Contract Law.

Appellant had two options to effect compliance with the Consent Settlement Order: (1) present “a ratified contract to sell the property . . . for Eight Hundred Fifty Thousand and 00/100s (\$850,000.00) dollars or higher. . .” within 180 days of the date of filing of the Order, or

March 11, 2017; **OR** (2) deliver an unqualified commitment letter from a reputable lender in an amount sufficient to pay the debt owed by Plaintiffs below. The Master in Equity determined Miller failed to produce a valid loan commitment letter⁵ or a valid ratified contract and, therefore, Appellant was not entitled to specific performance. The Master's holding is supported by substantial record evidence and should be affirmed.

Appellant conveniently overlooks the fact that Miller consented to entry of the Consent Settlement Order and now challenges the ratification provision to which she did not initially object at the June 14, 2017 hearing on her Motion to Enforce Settlement Order. At that hearing, at which all family members were present, Miller agreed with the basic terms of the Consent Settlement Order: that on or before March 11, 2017, she would produce a ratified purchase contract or (2) a refinance commitment letter from a lender. (June 14, 2017 Hr'g Trans., pp. 6, line 24 – p. 7, line 5; p. 8, lines 1-18) Going further, Appellant conceded the Purchase Agreement Miller submitted in fact was *not* ratified and that “[i]t was totally within [Respondents’] power of whether to ratify it or not.” (*Id.*, p. 9, lines 7-15) Appellant also conceded that ratification was impossible because one of the required signatures was obtained two days beyond the deadline for compliance pursuant to the terms of the Consent Settlement Order. (*Id.*, p.10, lines 7-13)

Appellant now posits for the first time on appeal that the Consent Settlement Order did not require all interested parties to “ratify” the contract and that, in any event, Appellant

⁵ Appellant does not appear to challenge on appeal the Master's conclusion that Miller failed to produce a valid loan commitment letter and has not included any version of the same in the Record on Appeal. Further, Respondents do not recall ever receiving the “revised” Purchase Agreement from Appellant. (June 14, 2017 Hr'g Trans., p. 11, lines 18-22)

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